

## E-CIGARETTES: A NEW THREAT TO CARDIOVASCULAR HEALTH

A WORLD HEART FEDERATION POLICY BRIEF



#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This is an official publication of the World Heart Federation (WHF).

WHF would like to thank the following authors for their contributions:

WHF TOBACCO EXPERT GROUP: Chair – Prof. Eduardo Bianco, Framework Convention Alliance, Uruguay

Mr. Andrii Skipalskyi, Advocacy Center LIFE, Ukraine

**Prof. Fastone Goma,** Eden University, Zambia **Ms. Hanin Odeh,** NCD Child Global Governing Council, Jordan

**Prof. Koji Hasegawa,** Clinical Research Institute National Hospital Organization Kyoto Medical Center, Japan

**Ms. Mawya Al Zawawi,** Framework Convention Alliance Eastern Mediterranean Region, Jordan

**Dr. Michal Stoklosa,** Institute for Health Research and Policy, University of Illinois Chicago, United States

**Dr. Regina Dalmau,** University Hospital La Paz, Madrid, Spain

**Dr. E. Ulysses Dorotheo,** Southeast Asia Tobacco Control Alliance, Philippines

WHF STAFF AND TEAM: Ms Florence Berteletti Mr Jeremiah Mwangi Mr Yunshu Wang

# CONTENTS

Executive Summary	4
The tobacco epidemic and cardiovascular diseases	5
The rise in popularity of electronic cigarettes	5
Terminologies	5
Evolution of e-cigarettes	6
Marketing and appeal of e-cigarettes	6
Health concerns regarding e-cigarettes	7
Electronic cigarette constituents	8
Cardiovascular effects of electronic cigarettes	9
Smoking cessation and initiation	10
Limitations of studies on electronic cigarettes	11
Regulation of electronic cigarettes	11
Conclusion	12
Recommendations	13
References	15

Suggested citation: Bianco E, Skipalskyi A, Goma F, Odeh H, Hasegawa K, Al-Zawawi M, Stoklosa M, Dalmau R, Dorotheo EU, et al. E-Cigarettes: A New Threat to Cardiovascular Health – A World Heart Federation Policy Brief. *Global Heart*. Oct 2021; 16(1): 72. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5334/gh.1076





#### Tobacco is widely recognized as a leading cause of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, accounting for approximately 17 percent of all cardiovascular disease deaths globally.

lectronic nicotine delivery systems such as e-cigarettes have been developed and advertised as safer alternatives to traditional tobacco cigarettes. Aggressive marketing strategies, as well as misleading claims by manufacturers, have largely contributed to the belief that e-cigarettes are harmless.

In reality, e-cigarettes are far from innocuous. E-cigarette solutions and aerosols generally contain harmful substances that are commonly found in tobacco cigarette emissions. A growing body of literature suggests that e-cigarettes are associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. In addition, the effectiveness of e-cigarettes as smoking cessation tools has yet to be determined. Concerningly, most smokers do not give up on tobacco cigarettes and eventually become dual users.

Unregulated, e-cigarettes constitute a serious threat to established tobacco control policies. Fortunately, many countries have demonstrated that strong regulations were effective in protecting their populations from the dangers of e-cigarettes. The World Heart Federation recommends applying the precautionary principle and a set of measures to protect vulnerable populations, prevent exposure to second-hand smoking, and address misleading claims. In this regard, we recommend that governments, policymakers, and other relevant stakeholders enact or support the following measures, among others:

- Prohibit the sale and distribution of e-cigarettes to minors, as well as the use of flavouring agents
- Prohibit the use of e-cigarettes anywhere tobacco cigarettes have been banned
- Prohibit marketing, advertising, and misleading claims regarding e-cigarettes
- Apply excise taxes on e-cigarettes
- Conduct more research regarding the long-term effects of e-cigarettes on cardiovascular health.

Lastly, countries that have banned the commercialization of e-cigarettes should maintain these measures.

# THE TOBACCO EPIDEMIC AND CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES



ardiovascular diseases remain the leading cause of mortality worldwide and are responsible for over 18.6 million deaths annually <sup>(1,2)</sup>.

Cigarette smoking affects nearly every organ in the human body and can result in the development of diseases such as cancers, pulmonary diseases, and cardiovascular diseases <sup>(3)</sup>. Tobacco is widely recognised as a major risk factor for cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, accounting for approximately 17% of all cardiovascular disease deaths globally <sup>(2,4)</sup>.

## THE RISE IN POPULARITY OF ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES

lectronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS) such as electronic cigarettes have been developed and marketed as a safer alternative to traditional tobacco cigarettes <sup>(5)</sup>.

Since their introduction in 2004, the popularity of e-cigarettes has surged exponentially worldwide <sup>(6)</sup>. In 2018, e-cigarettes were sold in more than 102 countries and purchased by consumers of different ages (6,7). At that time, the e-cigarette market was worth USD 11.26 billion and was projected to reach USD 26.84 billion by 2023 <sup>(8,9)</sup>.

E-cigarettes have become particularly popular among young populations in recent years <sup>(10)</sup>. For instance, the use of e-cigarettes in US middle and high school students increased from 1.5% in 2011 to 20.8% in 2018 <sup>(11)</sup>. In 2016, e-cigarettes were far more popular than traditional cigarettes among US youth <sup>(12)</sup>.



## TERMINOLOGIES

- Electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS) are commonly referred to as electronic cigarettes or e-cigarettes in the general public. Therefore, the terms "ENDS" and "e-cigarette" are used interchangeably in this paper.
- Electronic non-nicotine delivery systems (ENNDS), in contrast to ENDS, do not contain nicotine. Their effects on the cardiovascular system are not discussed in this paper.
- Heated tobacco products (HTP) are not a type of ENDS. HTPs create an aerosol by heating tobacco and should be considered and regulated, accordingly, as tobacco products <sup>(13)</sup>.

# **EVOLUTION OF E-CIGARETTES**

The design of ENDS is changing rapidly, and products are constantly enhanced to satisfy consumer demands <sup>(6)</sup>. In fact, the word 'e-cigarette' designates a group of products that differ considerably in terms of shapes, capabilities, and functionalities <sup>(14)</sup>.



First-generation e-cigarettes, also called ciga-likes, were designed to resemble traditional cigarettes and are characterized by a low-voltage battery <sup>(8,15)</sup>.

Second-generation e-cigarettes are larger, shaped like a pen, and are equipped with a refillable reservoir, as well as a rechargeable battery <sup>(8,15)</sup>. Thirdgeneration e-cigarettes, sometimes also referred to as mods, diverge from previous generations in terms of both shape and size. These e-cigarettes are defined by large refillable tanks and batteries with adjustable power outputs <sup>(8,15)</sup>. Higher voltages result in higher temperatures and lead to an increased delivery of nicotine <sup>(5)</sup>. Modern e-cigarettes, such as pods, have a high-tech design and have adopted prefilled cartridges that contain concentrations of nicotine comparable to that in traditional cigarettes, as well as a variety of flavours <sup>(8,10)</sup>.

Regardless of the model, all ENDS deliver nicotine by heating and transforming a solution, known as e-liquid, into an aerosol inhaled by the user <sup>(5)</sup>. E-cigarettes are generally equipped with a mouthpiece, a sensor, a battery, a reservoir/tank, and a heating element/atomiser <sup>(10)</sup>. Inhaling through the mouthpiece triggers the sensor and activates the heating element. The latter then heats and vaporizes the e-liquid into an aerosol <sup>(10,15)</sup>.

## **MARKETING AND APPEAL OF E-CIGARETTES**

Electronic cigarettes are regularly advertised as harm reduction tools and smoking cessation aids <sup>(7)</sup>.

Aggressive marketing strategies, as well as misleading claims by manufacturers, have largely contributed to the belief that e-cigarettes are harmless or less harmful than conventional cigarettes <sup>(15,16)</sup>.

Therefore, e-cigarettes are generally perceived as safer, healthier, and less addictive substitutes for traditional tobacco cigarettes <sup>(5,8,15)</sup>.

In addition, e-cigarettes are frequently employed as a smoking cessation tool and/ or as a way to circumvent tobacco control policies <sup>(5,15)</sup>. Lastly, the novelty of the product, the polished design, and the immense variety of flavours make e-cigarettes particularly appealing to youth <sup>(10)</sup>.

## **HEALTH CONCERNS REGARDING E-CIGARETTES**

growing body of literature suggests that e-cigarettes are associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular and other morbidity and mortality <sup>(3,17)</sup>.

A number of studies have confirmed that e-cigarettes are far from harmless and that e-liquids and e-cigarette aerosols contain harmful substances that are commonly found in conventional cigarette emissions <sup>(10,17)</sup>. Albeit present at substantially lower levels, these components could potentially have similar adverse effects on the cardiovascular system, and electronic cigarettes should not be considered safe until proven otherwise <sup>(10,17)</sup>.

In the present case, the precautionary principle should be applied.



## E-LIQUIDS AND E-CIGARETTE AEROSOLS CONTAIN HARMFUL SUBSTANCES THAT ARE COMMONLY FOUND IN CONVENTIONAL CIGARETTE EMISSIONS



# ELECTRONIC CIGARETTE CONSTITUENTS

While e-cigarettes do not contain or involve the combustion of tobacco, they still generate toxic substances that are typically found in traditional cigarette smoke <sup>(5,18)</sup>. These constituents are generally present at a significantly lower level and vary considerably depending on the device and the e-liquid <sup>(12,14)</sup>. The additive or synergistic nature of these components is currently unknown <sup>(11)</sup>.

#### **E-LIQUIDS**

E-liquids are usually a mixture of propylene glycol, glycerine, nicotine, and flavouring agents<sup>(11)</sup>. Propylene glycol and glycerine, both regarded as safe for oral consumption, can transform into harmful substances when exposed to high temperatures (6,11). Flavouring agents largely contribute to the massive variation in e-liquid and aerosol composition and may even contain harmful substances not present in traditional cigarettes<sup>(8)</sup>. While the vast majority of flavouring agents are considered safe for ingestion, data regarding their safety when inhaled is limited (11,12). In fact, some flavouring agents such as cinnamaldehydes are known to be toxic when inhaled (11).

#### **E-CIGARETTE AEROSOLS**

The composition of the aerosol depends on the devices and e-liquids <sup>(11)</sup>. Components such as nicotine, carbonyl compounds, particulate matter, metals, volatile organic compounds, and tobacco-specific nitrosamines have been routinely detected in e-cigarette emissions <sup>(6,11,15)</sup>. The presence of these substances could be a threat to the health of e-cigarette users and bystanders.

#### NICOTINE

Modern e-cigarettes can deliver concentrations of nicotine that are comparable to traditional cigarettes <sup>(8)</sup>.

Nicotine is directly associated with the development of cardiovascular diseases and is responsible for an increase in heart rate, blood pressure, and vasoconstriction <sup>(6)</sup>. Studies have also demonstrated that this substance can induce inflammation, endothelial dysfunction, angiogenesis, lipogenesis, and atherosclerosis <sup>(6,11,15)</sup>.

Nicotine is widely recognized as a highly addictive drug, and **concentrations delivered by modern e-cigarettes are able to both generate and maintain dependence** <sup>(12,15)</sup>. Nicotine can also affect brain development and can be especially hazardous for infants, adolescents, and pregnant women <sup>(6,8)</sup>.

#### **CARBONYL COMPOUNDS**

Carbonyl compounds such as acetaldehyde, formaldehyde, and acrolein are produced during the thermal degradation of propylene glycol and glycerine <sup>(15)</sup>. The cardiovascular effects of these aldehydes include oxidative stress and inflammation <sup>(11,15)</sup>. Acrolein is also known to induce endothelial dysfunction, vascular injury, platelet activation, and atherosclerosis <sup>(6,11)</sup>. Modern e-cigarettes are capable of producing similar levels of carbonyl compounds as those produced by tobacco cigarettes <sup>(15)</sup>.

#### PARTICULATE MATTER

Fine (PM2.5) and ultrafine (PM0.1) particulate matter are particles (< 2.5  $\mu$ m and < 0.1  $\mu$ m diameter, respectively) that can reach the general circulation through the lungs <sup>(11,15)</sup>. These particles are associated with the development of cardiovascular diseases and can be found at levels comparable to those of conventional cigarettes <sup>(11,15)</sup>.

Exposure to PM2.5 can lead to the development of hypertension, oxidative stress, endothelial dysfunction, atherosclerosis, arrhythmia, coronary artery disease, and myocardial infarction <sup>(11,15)</sup>. PM2.5 is also present in second-hand smoke exhaled by e-cigarette smokers and could be of particular importance in terms of public health because even low levels of exposure could cause harm <sup>(15)</sup>.

#### **HEAVY METALS**

Various types and concentrations of metals have been detected in different studies <sup>(6,11)</sup>. Owing to this variance, their role in the development of cardiovascular diseases is still being assessed.

#### **SECOND-HAND SMOKING**

E-cigarette users demonstrably exhale aerosols containing nicotine and other harmful constituents in the air, even if electronic cigarettes do not emit side-stream smoke <sup>(5)</sup>. There is strong evidence supporting the idea that e-cigarettes can affect the quality of air indoors and that bystanders breathe in aerosols and their constituents in some capacity<sup>(5,15)</sup>.

MODERN E-CIGARETTES CAN DELIVER CONCENTRATIONS OF NICOTINE THAT ARE COMPARABLE TO TRADITIONAL CIGARETTES

## **CARDIOVASCULAR EFFECTS OF ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES**

any studies have confirmed that e-cigarettes are associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality <sup>(3,17)</sup>. The use of e-cigarettes is irrefutably

correlated with physiological changes that are typically observed in individuals who develop cardiovascular diseases <sup>(5)</sup>.

#### HAEMODYNAMIC CHANGES

E-cigarette use is associated with an increase in heart rate and blood pressure, as well as with an unnatural heart rate variability pattern <sup>(11,15,19)</sup>. These effects could be attributed to nicotine, as they are generally not observed in people using nicotine-free e-liquids <sup>(11)</sup>.

Furthermore, sustained use of e-cigarettes can lead to permanent elevation in heart rate and blood pressure <sup>(11)</sup>.

#### **VASCULAR CHANGES**

Electronic cigarettes are associated with inflammation, oxidative stress, endothelial dysfunction, vascular injury, arterial stiffness, and atherosclerosis <sup>(11,15,19)</sup>. In the long term, e-cigarettes can also lead to elevated levels of oxidative stress <sup>(11)</sup>.

#### PLATELET CHANGES

The use of e-cigarettes is associated with an increase in platelet aggregation, although most studies on platelets have been conducted in vitro or in animals <sup>(8)</sup>.

#### RISK OF MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION

E-cigarettes are associated with an increased risk of myocardial infarction, and habitual e-cigarette users are 1.79 times more likely to develop myocardial infarction than non-smokers <sup>(11)</sup>. By contrast, chronic tobacco cigarette smokers are 2.72 times more likely to experience myocardial infarction than non-smokers <sup>(19)</sup>.



# <text>

# **SMOKING CESSATION AND INITIATION**

#### POTENTIAL AS A SMOKING CESSATION TOOL

lectronic cigarettes are often marketed as effective smoking cessation tools. However, they have never been officially approved for this purpose <sup>(10)</sup>. In fact, multiple sources have indicated that e-cigarette users are less likely to quit smoking <sup>(5,16)</sup>.

A number of studies have suggested that e-cigarettes could be more effective than nicotine replacement therapies (NRT) and as effective as varenicline for the cessation of traditional cigarettes when all interventions benefit from behavioural support <sup>(8,19)</sup>. However, recent data have challenged these findings <sup>(20)</sup>. Moreover, a significant number of "quitters" became chronic e-cigarette smokers because of the addictive nature of nicotine <sup>(19)</sup>.

E-cigarettes were initially developed as a safer alternative to tobacco cigarettes and were never meant to become smoking cessation tools.

THE USE OF E-CIGARETTES IN YOUNG POPULATIONS IS GENERALLY ASSOCIATED WITH A TRANSITION TO TRADITIONAL TOBACCO CIGARETTES E-cigarettes are neither officially approved for smoking cessation therapies nor are pharmacologically controlled <sup>(18)</sup>. There is no standard dosage or dosing regimen for smoking cessation <sup>(16)</sup>. In comparison, NRTs are used for only short periods of time, and fixed doses are administered through oral or transdermal routes <sup>(18,19)</sup>. In addition, NRTs are not associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular diseases <sup>(18)</sup>.

#### POTENTIAL AS A SMOKING REDUCTION TOOL

Data suggest that a large majority of e-cigarette users do not give up tobacco cigarettes and become dual users <sup>(5)</sup>. Most dual users utilize e-cigarettes as a supplement to traditional cigarettes and are generally exposed to a higher number and concentration of harmful constituents <sup>(8)</sup>. As a result, dual users may incur higher risks of developing cardiovascular diseases.

Some dual users employ electronic cigarettes as a smoking reduction tool by replacing a number of tobacco cigarettes with e-cigarettes <sup>(8)</sup>. Unfortunately, the dose-response relationship between tobacco smoking and the risk of cardiovascular diseases is nonlinear <sup>(17)</sup>. Consequently, the decrease in risk will not be proportional to the number of substituted cigarettes, and even low levels of exposure will lead to a significant increase in the risk of cardiovascular diseases <sup>(15,21)</sup>.

#### POTENTIAL AS A HARM REDUCTION TOOL

Although not harmless, current evidence suggests that completely switching from tobacco cigarettes to electronic cigarettes would reduce exposure to toxicants in terms of quality and quantity, and could result in health improvements in the short term <sup>(8,12)</sup>. Nonetheless, surveys indicate that a majority of e-cigarette users are dual users of both conventional and electronic cigarettes, which carries an increased health risk <sup>(5)</sup>.

#### POTENTIAL FOR SMOKING INITIATION AND RELAPSE

Even with irregular exposure, youth are still extremely vulnerable to the effects of nicotine <sup>(10)</sup>. **The use of e-cigarettes in young populations is generally associated with a transition to traditional tobacco cigarettes** <sup>(10)</sup>. Studies suggest that adolescents who smoke e-cigarettes are 3.5 times more prone to start smoking conventional cigarettes than non-smoking peers <sup>(10)</sup>. This transition could be explained by their addiction to nicotine and a set of acquired behavioural and social habits <sup>(22)</sup>. Moreover, there are also some concerns regarding whether e-cigarettes could incite ex-smokers to re-start smoking <sup>(8)</sup>.



## **LIMITATIONS OF STUDIES ON ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES**

he extensive number of e-cigarette devices and e-liquids will inevitably lead to different study outcomes<sup>(12)</sup>. Different devices and solutions produce drastically different aerosols, in terms of both composition and concentration <sup>(12)</sup>. Furthermore, the endless range of flavouring agents adds several layers of complexity to the problem<sup>(12)</sup>. The profile of the study population, as well as the consumption technique, will also directly influence the results<sup>(11)</sup>.

Consequently, confirming the precise health effects of e-cigarettes and extrapolating the study results to the general population is a challenging task. Research protocols, methods, and designs need to be standardized and improved <sup>(12)</sup>. Additionally, the paucity of data on the long-term effects of e-cigarettes is a particularly pressing issue <sup>(8)</sup>.

# **REGULATION OF ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES**



he regulation of e-cigarettes can vary significantly from one country or region to another, with no global standard currently available <sup>(6)</sup>.

Governments generally categorize e-cigarettes as tobacco products, imitation tobacco products, medicinal products, pharmaceutical products, consumer products, poisons, or electronic nicotine delivery systems <sup>(9)</sup>. The policies and regulations that can be applied to e-cigarettes depend heavily on their classification <sup>(9)</sup>. Some nations have chosen to enact new legislation to regulate e-cigarettes, while others have opted to apply or amend existing laws<sup>(9)</sup>. In 2018, electronic cigarettes were banned in 40 countries worldwide, while being entirely unregulated in 39 other countries <sup>(7,8)</sup>. Generally, countries have opted to prohibit or restrict possession, use, marketing, and flavours of e-cigarettes <sup>(8)</sup>.

E-cigarettes are an extremely diverse group of products with more than 15,500 different types of flavours <sup>(11,23)</sup>. This diversity perfectly illustrates why the regulation of e-cigarettes is necessary. Furthermore, e-cigarettes are rapidly and constantly being replaced by newer models, and regulations need to be responsive to match this unrelenting pace.

#### THE TOBACCO INDUSTRY

In 2019, the Convention Secretariat of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) reiterated that there is a **"fundamental and irreconcilable conflict between the**  tobacco industry's interests and public health policy interests in accordance with Article 5.3 of the Convention and its guidelines" <sup>(7)</sup>.

All prominent transnational tobacco corporations are currently involved in e-cigarette businesses<sup>(5)</sup>. Following their signature modus operandi, these companies have become highly influential in the policymaking of e-cigarettes and have positioned themselves at multiple levels of the decision-making process<sup>(5)</sup>. At the academic level, **the tobacco industry has funded several studies that severely downplayed the dangers of e-cigarettes**<sup>(8)</sup>.

#### **MARKETING STRATEGIES**

The marketing of e-cigarettes plays a central role in shaping the opinions of the general public <sup>(16)</sup>. The tobacco industry has a long history of using deceitful and misleading claims to advertise its products <sup>(10)</sup>. One of its objectives is to ensure that e-cigarettes are perceived as safer or harmless alternatives to conventional tobacco cigarettes <sup>(5)</sup>. In addition, research data suggest that youth who have been exposed to such marketing strategies were more prone to smoke e-cigarettes<sup>(10)</sup>.

#### THREATS TO TOBACCO CONTROL LAWS

Undeniably, the tobacco industry is capitalizing on electronic cigarettes to interfere with existing tobacco control laws, and is pushing for e-cigarette-friendly regulation while continuing to oppose effective regulation of conventional cigarettes and other tobacco products <sup>(7)</sup>. Tobacco companies are exploiting loopholes in current legislation to sabotage tobacco denormalization and encourage defiance against tobacco control policies <sup>(7,14)</sup>.

For instance, in the absence of regulation, e-cigarettes can and will be used to circumvent smoke-free policies <sup>(7)</sup>.

IN 2018 ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES WERE BANNED IN COUNTRIES

WORI DWINF

#### REGULATION OF E-CIGARETTES IN CANADA

The Tobacco and Vaping Products Act prohibits the sale and distribution of e-cigarettes to minors, as well as the marketing and advertising of e-cigarettes to young populations <sup>(24,25)</sup>. The legislation also requires manufacturers to include appropriate labelling and health warnings on the packages of e-cigarettes <sup>(24)</sup>.

Prohibiting the sale and distribution of e-cigarettes to minors has considerably reduced the uptake of e-cigarettes among young Canadians <sup>(25)</sup>. Moreover, young people demonstrated a better understanding of the potential dangers of e-cigarettes and reported a decrease in accessibility <sup>(25)</sup>. Evidence also suggests that populations residing in countries with stricter marketing regulations are generally less exposed to e-cigarette advertisements <sup>(26)</sup>.

#### REGULATION OF E-CIGARETTES IN FINLAND

The Tobacco Act 2016 prohibits the sale and distribution of e-cigarettes to minors, online sales of e-cigarettes, flavouring agents that "smell or taste other than one of tobacco" <sup>(27)</sup>, and the use of e-cigarette anywhere tobacco cigarettes have been banned <sup>(27,28)</sup>. The legislation also prohibits the marketing and advertising of e-cigarettes, as well as the use of misleading claims <sup>(27,28)</sup>. Moreover, manufacturers are required to include appropriate labelling and health warnings on e-cigarette packages <sup>(28)</sup>.

The Tobacco Act 2016 also subjects e-cigarette solutions to excise duty <sup>(27)</sup>. A number of studies have demonstrated that an increase in e-cigarette prices is directly related to a decline in e-cigarette sales <sup>(29,30)</sup>. Therefore, the application of an excise tax should increase revenue for governments and decrease the use of e-cigarettes in the population. Policymakers should also consider the fact that e-cigarettes are substitutes for traditional cigarettes <sup>(29,30)</sup>.

The National Supervisory Authority for Welfare and Health (Valvira) oversees compliance with established regulations <sup>(27)</sup>. Manufacturers and importers must notify Valvira before introducing a new product in the market <sup>(27)</sup>. Additionally, grocery stores, kiosks, and specialised shops must acquire a license to sell e-cigarettes <sup>(27,28)</sup>.

Finland has adopted a relatively strong stance on e-cigarettes, and the number of users is presently lower than in other European countries <sup>(27)</sup>. Nonetheless, a number of infringements and legal cases have been recorded during the past few years, and continued monitoring remains essential <sup>(27)</sup>.

## MANY STUDIES HAVE CONFIRMED THAT E-CIGARETTES ARE ASSOCIATED WITH AN INCREASED RISK OF CARDIOVASCULAR MORBIDITY AND MORTALITY

## **CONCLUSION** In recent years, electronic cigarettes have

In recent years, electronic cigarettes have become immensely popular, especially among youth. The latest data indicate that these products are far from harmless and produce harmful aerosol components that are typically found in traditional cigarette smoke.

E-cigarettes are associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Their effects on the cardiovascular system could be substantial. Nevertheless, more studies on their longterm effects are needed, and addressing this gap in knowledge should be a priority <sup>(11)</sup>. When assessing the public health consequences of e-cigarettes, other diseases such as cancers and pulmonary diseases should also be considered.

Evidence suggests that tobacco smokers may benefit from completely switching from traditional cigarettes to e-cigarettes. However, to date, e-cigarettes have demonstrated limited efficacy as a smoking cessation or reduction tool, and dual use is common. Ironically, these products can be highly addictive and can initiate tobacco cigarette smoking.

The regulation of electronic cigarettes is of paramount importance and should focus on protecting both users and bystanders while preventing initiation and uptake. E-cigarettes are changing rapidly, and regulations should ensure safety and quality standards.

Finally, future legislation on electronic cigarettes should strengthen existing tobacco control laws. Countries that have banned the commercialization of e-cigarettes, based on the precautionary principle, should maintain these measures.

13

## **RECOMMENDATIONS**

The World Heart Federation recommends the following measures:-

#### REGARDING RESEARCH AND STUDIES ON THE CARDIOVASCULAR EFFECTS OF ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES:

	REASONS
Conduct more research regarding the long-term effects of e-cigarettes on cardiovascular health	• To close the knowledge gap regarding the long-term effects of e-cigarettes on the cardiovascular system
Medical and scientific journals should desist from publishing, and presenting at congress, studies funded by the tobacco industry	<ul> <li>To prevent biased study results</li> <li>To prevent conflicts of interest</li> <li>To ensure transparency</li> </ul>

#### The World Heart Federation recommends the following measures:-

TO PREVENT THE INITIATION AND UPTAKE OF ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES BY NON-SMOKERS AND YOUNG POPULATIONS:

RECOMMENDATIONS	
Prohibit the sale and distribution of e-cigarettes to minors	<ul> <li>REASONS</li> <li>To bring to an end the use of e-cigarettes by minors</li> </ul>
Prohibit flavouring agents	<ul> <li>To make e-cigarettes less appealing to youn populations</li> <li>To prevent the use of constituents that can potentially harmful and unsafe for inhalatio</li> </ul>
Prohibit online sales of e-cigarettes	<ul> <li>To facilitate the regulation of e-cigarette solutions</li> <li>To make e-cigarettes less accessible to mino</li> <li>To prohibits sales of unregulated products</li> </ul>
Require labelling and health warning on the packages of e-cigarettes	<ul> <li>To warn consumers about the potential dangers of e-cigarettes</li> <li>To replicate a proven strategy used against tobacco cigarettes</li> <li>To ensure child-resistant packaging</li> </ul>
Apply excise taxes on e-cigarettes	<ul> <li>To make e-cigarettes unaffordable to youth</li> <li>To raise income for governments</li> </ul>
Educate teachers and parents	<ul> <li>To address the e-cigarette epidemic in midc and high schools</li> </ul>

## **RECOMMENDATIONS**

The World Heart Federation recommends the following measures:-

#### TO PROTECT THE GENERAL POPULATION FROM THE SECOND-HAND SMOKING OF ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES:

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

Prohibit the use of e-cigarettes anywhere tobacco cigarettes have been banned

#### REASONS

• To reinforce smoke-free legislations in both public places and indoors

The World Heart Federation recommends the following measures:-

#### TO ADDRESS AGGRESSIVE MARKETING STRATEGIES AND MISLEADING CLAIMS REGARDING ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES:

RECOMMENDATIONS			
		REASONS	
Prohibit marketing, advertising, and misleading claims regarding e-cigarettes		<ul> <li>To reduce exposure to aggressive marketing strategies and advertisements</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>To replicate a proven strategy used against tobacco cigarettes</li> </ul>	
	->	<ul> <li>To prevent misleading claims that could encourage consumers to use a potentially harmful product</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>To prevent misleading claims regarding the innocuousness of e-cigarettes</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>To prevent misleading claims regarding the addictive nature of e-cigarettes</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>To prevent misleading claims regarding the effectiveness of e-cigarettes as smoking cessation tools</li> </ul>	
Continue to monitor marketing, advertising, and misleading claims regarding e-cigarettes		<ul> <li>To reinforce the prohibition law</li> </ul>	
	_	<ul> <li>To ensure regulatory compliance</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>To minimize and prevent interferences from the tobacco industry with regard to marketing and advertising</li> </ul>	

#### REFERENCES

1. World Heart Federation. What Is Cardiovascular Disease? [Internet]. World Heart Federation. 2021 [cited 2021 May 18]. Available from: https://world-heart-federation.org/what-is-cvd/

2. Roth GA, Mensah GA, Johnson CO, Addolorato G, Ammirati E, Baddour LM, et al. Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases and Risk Factors, 1990–2019. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020 Dec;76(25):2982–3021.

3. Raja J, Khouzam A, Khouzam N, Khouzam RN. Smoke and Heart Should Stay Apart: A Look at E Cigarettes and Other Alternatives to Conventional Cigarettes, and Their Impact on Cardiovascular Health. Curr Probl Cardiol. 2020 Jun;100640.

4. Grainger Gasser A, Welch C, Arora M, Greenland R, Bhatti L, Sanda L, et al. Reducing Cardiovascular Mortality Through Tobacco Control: A World Heart Federation Roadmap. Glob Heart. 2015 Jun 1;10(2):123.

Glantz SA, Bareham DW. E-Cigarettes: Use, Effects on Smoking, Risks, and Policy Implications. Annu Rev Public Health. 2018 Apr;39(1):215–35.
 Zhang G, Wang Z, Zhang K, Hou R, Xing C, Yu Q, et al. Safety Assessment of Electronic Cigarettes and Their Relationship with Cardiovascular Disease. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018 Jan 5;15(1):75.

7. WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. The Convention Secretariat calls Parties to remain vigilant towards novel and emerging nicotine and tobacco products [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2020 Nov 29]. Available from: https://www.who.int/fctc/mediacentre/news/2019/remain-vig-ilant-towards-novel-new-nicotine-tobacco-products/en/

8. European Heart Network. Electronic cigarettes and cardiovascular disease – an update from the European Heart Network [Internet]. European Heart Network; 2019 [cited 2020 Nov 30]. Available from: http://www.ehnheart.org/images/EHN\_e-cigarettes\_final\_final.pdf

9. Convention Secretariat. Progress report on regulatory and market developments on electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS) and electronic non-nicotine delivery systems (ENNDS). In Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control; 2018.

10. Walley SC, Wilson KM, Winickoff JP, Groner J. A Public Health Crisis: Electronic Cigarettes, Vape, and JUUL. Pediatrics. 2019 Jun;143(6):e20182741.

11. Buchanan ND, Grimmer JA, Tanwar V, Schwieterman N, Mohler PJ, Wold LE. Cardiovascular risk of electronic cigarettes: a review of preclinical and clinical studies. Cardiovasc Res. 2019 Nov 7;cvz256.

12. Committee on the Review of the Health Effects of Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems, Board on Population Health and Public Health Practice, Health and Medicine Division, National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Public Health Consequences of E-Cigarettes [Internet]. Stratton K, Kwan LY, Eaton DL, editors. Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press; 2018 [cited 2020 Nov 29]. Available from: https://www.nap.edu/catalog/24952

13. World Health Organization. Heated Tobacco Products Information Sheet [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/331297/WHO-HEP-HPR-2020.2-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

14. World Health Organization. Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems and Electronic Non-Nicotine Delivery Systems (ENDS/ENNDS). In Delhi, India: WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control; 2016.

15. Qasim H, Karim ZA, Rivera JO, Khasawneh FT, Alshbool FZ. Impact of Electronic Cigarettes on the Cardiovascular System. J Am Heart Assoc [Internet]. 2017 Sep 22 [cited 2020 Nov 29];6(9). Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/JAHA.117.006353

16. Grana R, Benowitz N, Glantz SA. E-Cigarettes: A Scientific Review. Circulation. 2014 May 13;129(19):1972–86.

Puig-Cotado F, Tursan d'Espaignet E, St Claire S, Bianco E, Bhatti L, Schotte K, et al. Tobacco and Coronary Heart Disease: WHO Tobacco Knowledge Summaries [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240010628
 Skotsimara G, Antonopoulos AS, Oikonomou E, Siasos G, Ioakeimidis N, Tsalamandris S, et al. Cardiovascular effects of electronic cigarettes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2019 Jul;26(11):1219–28.

19. Middlekauff HR. Cardiovascular impact of electronic-cigarette use. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2020 Apr;30(3):133–40.

20. Pisinger C, Vestbo J. A new Cochrane review on electronic cigarettes for smoking cessation: should we change our practice? Eur Respir J. 2020 Dec;56(6):2004083.

21. Bjartveit K. Health consequences of smoking 1-4 cigarettes per day. Tob Control. 2005 Oct 1;14(5):315–20.

Soneji S, Barrington-Trimis JL, Wills TA, Leventhal AM, Unger JB, Gibson LA, et al. Association Between Initial Use of e-Cigarettes and Subsequent Cigarette Smoking Among Adolescents and Young Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr. 2017 Aug 1;171(8):788.
 Hsu G, Sun JY, Zhu S-H. Evolution of Electronic Cigarette Brands From 2013-2014 to 2016-2017: Analysis of Brand Websites. J Med Internet Res. 2018 Mar 12;20(3):e80.

24. Institute for Global Tobacco Control. Country Laws Regulating E-Cigarettes - Canada [Internet]. Global Tobacco Control. 2021 [cited 2021 Oct 4]. Available from: https://globaltobaccocontrol.org/en/policy-scan/e-cigarettes/countries?country=70

25. Nguyen HV. Association of Canada's Provincial Bans on Electronic Cigarette Sales to Minors With Electronic Cigarette Use Among Youths. JAMA Pediatr. 2020 Jan 6;174(1):e193912.

26. Wadsworth E, McNeill A, Li L, Hammond D, Thrasher JF, Yong H-H, et al. Reported exposure to E-cigarette advertising and promotion in different regulatory environments: Findings from the International Tobacco Control Four Country (ITC-4C) Survey. Prev Med. 2018 Jul;112:130–7.

27. Ollila E. See you in court: obstacles to enforcing the ban on electronic cigarette flavours and marketing in Finland. Tob Control. 2019 Oct 21;tobaccocontrol-2019-055260.

28. Institute for Global Tobacco Control. Country Laws Regulating E-Cigarettes - Finland [Internet]. Global Tobacco Control. 2021 [cited 2021 Oct 4]. Available from: https://globaltobaccocontrol.org/en/policy-scan/e-cigarettes/countries?country=84

29. Stoklosa M, Drope J, Chaloupka FJ. Prices and E-Cigarette Demand: Evidence From the European Union. Nicotine Tob Res. 2016 Oct;18(10):1973–80.

30. Yao T, Sung H-Y, Huang J, Chu L, St. Helen G, Max W. The impact of e-cigarette and cigarette.

### E-CIGARETTES: A NEW THREAT TO CARDIOVASCULAR HEALTH

## **A WORLD HEART FEDERATION POLICY BRIEF**



WORLD HEART FEDERATION 32, rue de Malatrex, 1201 Geneva, Switzerland (+41 22) 807 03 20 info@worldheart.org www.worldheart.org

f World Heart Federation @worldheartfed

in

(0

) World Heart Federation

@worldheartfederation